
Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee

Date Tuesday 22 January 2019
Time 10.00 am
Venue Council Chamber - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

1. Apologies for Absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Declarations of Interest (if any)  
4. Minutes of the Meetings held on 20 and 27 November 2018, and 4 

December 2018  (Pages 3 - 22)
5. Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence - Bells Fish and Chips, 

Finchale Road, Durham  (Pages 23 - 72)
6. Application for the Variaton of a Premises Licence - Bar 33, First Floor, 

29-33 Neville Street, Durham  (Pages 73 - 124)
7. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 

is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
14 January 2019

To: The Members of the Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee

Councillors J Blakey, L Brown, D Hicks, L Kennedy and L Marshall

Contact: Jill Errington Tel: 03000 269703



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee held in Council Chamber, 
Spennymoor - Council Offices, Spennymoor on Tuesday 20 November 2018 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor C Carr (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors D Brown, G Darkes and A Hopgood

Also Present:
Councillor D Brown
Helen Johnson – Licensing Team Leader, DCC
Stephen Buston – Solicitor, DCC
Laura Cloney - Licensing Enforcement Team Leader, Licensing Authority
Jeffrey Turnbull – Assistant Force Solicitor for Durham Constabulary 
Sgt Caroline Dickenson, Durham Constabulary
PCSO Aimee Guest – Durham Constabulary
Jonathan Smith – Poppleston Allen, Solicitor for Red Oak Taverns Ltd
Nathan Audas – Operations Manager, Red Oak Taverns Ltd
Martyn Webster – Business Development Manager, Red Oak Tavens Ltd

1 Apology for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor J Blakey.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Application for the Review of a Premises Licence - The Oddfellows Arms, 52 
Church Street, Seaham 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services regarding an application for the review of a Premises Licence in 
respect of The Oddfellows Arms, 53 Church Street, Seaham (for copy see file of 
Minutes).

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Members were informed that on 25 October 2018 a Statutory Licensing Sub-
Committee had considered an application from Durham Constabulary under 
Section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003 following an incident at the premises and 
had decided to suspend the Premises Licence with immediate effect pending this 
full review hearing. The Licence Holder had confirmed at that time that the DPS had 
been removed.

A copy of the review application and supporting documentation had been circulated 
to Members, together with additional information provided by Durham Constabulary. 

Mr Turnbull, Assistant Force Solicitor was invited to address the Sub-Committee on 
behalf of the Applicant, Durham Constabulary. He explained that the application 
was not only in relation to the licensing objective ‘prevention of crime and disorder’ 
but also related to ‘the protection of children from harm’ as unaccompanied children 
aged between 11 and 12 years had been found on the premises. His 
representations would focus on the licensing objective ‘crime and disorder’ and the 
Police concerns over a 12 month period which had culminated in an incident on the 
premises on 5 August 2018 when a male had suffered bruising to the brain and a 
fracture to his skull. 

This incident had prompted a meeting with the Licence Holder, Red Oak Taverns 
Ltd, on 22 August 2018 when the importance of contacting the Police when an 
incident occurred had been agreed, along with other measures.  However despite 
this agreement the DPS had not called the Police on 20 October 2018 when a 
serious incident had occurred and a male had sustained two fractured eye sockets, 
a broken nose and two fractured ribs. 

Members were then referred to the statement provided by PCSO Guest which 
included earlier incidents at the premises.

Whilst the Police had no confidence in the way the premises had been managed, in 
fairness to the Licence Holder immediate action was taken to remove the DPS 
following the incident,  and the Licence Holder had not challenged the suspension 
of the Premises Licence.

Since the summary review useful discussions had taken place with the Licence 
Holder and agreement had been reached which sufficiently addressed the  
concerns of the Police. The Licence Holder was seeking to re-open the premises 
with more robust management, had agreed to a number of proposed conditions 
including an extension of the suspension for a further 6 weeks and a reduction in 
hours for licensable acitivities. The proposed conditions also addressed  the 
provision of door supervisors, and specified that no person under the age of 18 
would be allowed on the premises unless accompanied by an adult. A copy of the 
proposed conditions was circulated to all parties.

Laura Cloney, Licensing Enforcement Team Leader was invited to make 
representations and advised that she supported the proposed conditions which she 
hoped would address the issues of concern.

Page 4



Jonathan Smith addressed the Sub-Committee on behalf of the Licence Holder. He 
comnmenced by explaining that the tenant of the premises was not an employee of 
Red Oak Taverns Ltd. Ms Porritt had held a tenancy agreement for 11 years, and 
Red Oak Taverns Ltd had inherited the tenant on their purchase of the premises. 
Issues with the running of the premises had arisen over the last 12 months; there 
was no previous record of any problems. In 2013 the licensing hours were extended 
to 12.30am, with the premises closing at 1.00am, and in June 2017 the hours were 
extended further to 2.00am, closing at 2.30am, with no objections from the Police. 
Problems with the premises had first come to the attention of the Licence Holder in 
August 2018, and immediately following the most recent incident steps were taken 
to remove the DPS so that Red Oak Taverns Ltd remained in control and could 
liaise with the Police. Red Oak Taverns Ltd successfully managed 160 premises 
across the country.

Mr Smith then responded to questions from Councillor Carr. With regard to the 
provision of door supervisors and having a presence at the rear gate, at this point in 
time the Licence Holder did not know what type of premises any new tenant would 
wish to run. The new tenant may not wish to open late in which case only one door 
supervisor would be required. A condition was already included in the Premises 
Licence that the rear gate should be locked at 11pm.

Councillor Hopgood noted that the door supervisor would be on duty from 10pm 
and suggested that this should be the time the rear gate was closed. The Licence 
Holders confirmed their agreement with this.  

Councillor Carr was concerned that the bar staff should be able to identify when 
customers were intoxicated and was informed that this would form part of the 
training. The Councillor also specified the importance of maintaining an incident 
book.

Following a question from Councillor Darkes who asked the Licence Holder to 
consider imposing a curfew of 9pm for children, Mr Smith asked that this be left to 
the discretion of the new DPS. The new tenant may wish to operate a food-led and 
family-friendly premises, and a 9pm curfew would be too restrictive for a venue of 
that type.

The Chairman invited all parties to sum up. None had anything further to add but Mr 
Audas confirmed that the surrender of the tenancy had been completed on 14 
November 2018, and the former DPS had now vacated the premises. 

At 10.50am the Sub-Committee Resolved to retire to deliberate the application in 
prIvate.

After re-convening at 11.10am the Chairman delivered the Sub-Committee’s 
decision. In reaching their decision Members had taken into account the report of 
the Licensing Team Leader, the written and verbal representations of the Applicant 
and the Licence Holder, and the proposed conditions agreed between the parties. 
Members had also considered the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and 
Section 182 Guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

Page 5



Resolved:

That

i. a suspension be imposed for a further period of six weeks, effective from the 
date of this hearing.   

ii. The interim steps, previously imposed on 25th October 2018, shall cease to 
have effect once the time for appeal of this decision, under Section 53C of 
the Licensing Act 2003, has expired [Section 53D(4)(b) applies].

iii. The following conditions be attached to Annex 3 of the premises licence:

a) All licensable activities to be permitted between 9.00am and 1.00am, 
seven days per week.

b) Opening hours for the premises to be permitted from 9.00am to 
1.30am; the only exceptions to be Christmas Day and New Years’ Eve, 
with licensable activities continuing until 2.00am, closing time 2.30am.

c) The Premises Licence Holder will obtain the approval of Durham 
Constabulary (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) to the 
appointment of a Designated Premises Supervisor before submitting an 
application to vary the Premises Licence to name such person as the 
Designated Premises Supervisor.

d) If the premises remain open for the sale of alcohol until midnight or 
before on a Friday, Saturday or Bank Holiday Sunday, the one member 
of door staff will be on duty from 10.00pm until the premises close.

e) If the premises remain open for the sale of alcohol after midnight on a 
Friday, Saturday or Bank Holiday Sunday, the two members of door 
staff will be on duty from 10.00pm until the premises close, with this 
number being reduced to one after a period of three months if in 
agreement with Durham Constabulary (such agreement not to be 
unreasonably withheld).

f) No person under the age of 18 will be allowed on the premises unless 
accompanied by an adult

g) The premises shall implement and evidence the full induction and 
training of all staff responsible for the sale of alcohol, prior to the re-
opening of the premises.

h) The rear gate of the premises shall be locked at 10.00pm.

   

Page 6



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee held in Committee Room 2 - 
County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 27 November 2018 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor P Crathorne (Chair)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors L Brown and G Darkes 

Also Present:
Councillor L Kennedy
Mrs G Proud – Council’s Solicitor
Mrs L Cloney – Licensing Enforcement Team Leader
Mrs H Johnson – Licensing Team Leader
Miss K Robson – Senior Licensing Officer
Mr A Cook – Team Leader (Special Investigations), Trading Standards
Mr M Miller – Trading Standards Investigator 
Mr S Barry – Public Health Practitioner (Living and Ageing Well)

1 Apologies for Absence 

An Apology for absence was received from Councillor Maitland.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Minutes 

The Minutes of the meetings held on 7 September 2018, 2 October 2018 and 30 
October 2018 were agreed as a correct record and were signed by the Chair.

5 Application to Transfer a Premises Licence - Lebaneat Wrap House, First 
Floor, 69 Claypath, Durham 

ITEM WITHDRAWN

Page 7



6 Application to Vary a Premises Licence to Specify an Individual as 
Designated Premises Supervisor - Lebaneat Wrap House, First Floor, 69 
Claypath, Durham 

ITEM WITHDRAWN

7 Application for the Review of a Premises Licence following a Closure Order - 
M & A General Stores, 44 Middle Street, Blackhall 

The Committee considered the report of the Senior Licensing Officer regarding an 
application for the review of a premises licence following a closure order in respect 
of M & A General Stores, 44 Middle Street, Blackhall (for copy of report, see file of 
minutes).

A copy of the application form and supporting information had been circulated to 
Members together with copies of the representations received from Trading 
Standards and Public Health.

The Licensing Team Leader addressed Members in relation to the Service of the 
Notices regarding the review of the Premises Licence. The address for the 
Premises Licence Holder is the store at 44 Middle Street, Blackhall. There is no 
alternative address known to the Licensing Authority. As the premises are currently 
closed, the Notices of hearing and associated paperwork have been served via first 
class post on this address, together with serving a copy on the DPS and taping the 
notices to the premises as there is no letterbox and the flat above is not associated 
with the premises. The Notices have been checked and replaced when they were 
torn down. There was also a letter attached to the premises which provided a link to 
allow the Premise Licence Holder to access an electronic version of the Licensing 
Papers.

The Senior Licensing Officer had made numerous attempts to contact the DPS with 
a view to obtaining the address for the Premises Licence Holder. She had left 
messages with the daughter of the DPS who stated that the DPS would telephone 
her back. The DPS had failed to respond to any requests regarding the address for 
the Premises Licence Holder and had also failed to return any of the Senior 
Licensing Officers calls. In addition to the above, the Senior Licensing Officer had 
confirmed that she approached the Police and the solicitor representing Mr Takhar 
in the Closure Order appeal, and both parties were unable to assist with an 
address.

The Sub-Committee considered the information provided and were advised with 
regard to the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005, in particular 
Regulations 20 and 34. The Sub-Committee were satisfied that all attempts to 
contact the Premises Licence Holder had been made and agreed that the hearing 
would proceed in his absence.

The Licensing Team Leader presented the report and explained that a closure 
order had been issued by Peterlee Magistrates Court. Trading Standards had 
applied for the closure order following an investigation into the supply of illicit 

Page 8



tobacco products sold within the vicinity of the premises. The relevant Licensing 
Authority must review the premises licence following the issue of a Closure Order. 
Members were advised that the premises were licensed for off sales only Monday 
to Sunday 08.00 hours until 13:00 hours and Sunday 10:00 until 23:30 hours. The 
application was deemed relevant and advertised in accordance with the regulations.

During the short consultation period 2 representations had been received 1 from 
Trading Standards and 1 from Public Health. Members were asked to determine the 
application and were provided with the details of the options available.

There were no questions of the Licensing Officer.

The Licensing Enforcement Team Leader outlined the review application and that a 
Closure Notice was served on the premises on Monday 12 November 2018, under 
Section 76 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014.

Members were advised that the premises are referred to as Lifestyle Express but 
are licensed as M & A General Stores.

She advised Members that in 2017 a previous investigation had been undertaken 
into a premises under the control of Mr Takhar for selling counterfeit goods which 
resulted in the revocation of the licence. On this occasion, Trading Standards acted 
on intelligence that illicit tobacco was being sold from vehicles outside of his 
premises on Middle Street. Surveillance was used as proof and warrants were 
executed for the premises, home address, vehicles and storage container and 
quantities of illicit tobacco were seized. It appeared that payments were being made 
within the premises and it was believed that the premises were associated with 
criminal activities. 

Councillor Brown sought clarification if the DPS and the owner of the premises were 
related. Officers confirmed that they were husband and wife.

The Council’s Solicitor sought clarification that sales were from vehicles outside the 
premises. The Licensing Enforcement Officer confirmed that the tobacco products 
were sold from vehicles and not from the premises itself.

The Team Leader (Special Investigations), Trading Standards then addressed 
Members and explained that the investigation commenced on the 20 July 2018 
following intelligence that Mr Takhar was selling tobacco from vehicles outside the 
premises. The surveillance showed that Mr Takhar was supplying tobacco products 
from vehicles which were registered to him. Trading Standards noted that they did 
not appear to be an exchange of money but customers first entered the shop then 
approached the vehicle. Mr Takhar also had access to a container nearby. 

A warrant of entry was obtained for the premises, container, vehicles and home 
address which led to the seizure of 8,800 cigarettes and 9.5 kg of tobacco which on 
examination were found to be counterfeit and were in breach of health warning 
regulations.

Page 9



The total value of the products seized was between £3,250.00 and £3,690.00. 
Following the enforcement operation Mr Takhar was interviewed under caution and 
answered no comment to questions. Mr Takhar denied selling tobacco items and 
that they were in his possession for personal use as he was a heavy smoker.

The counterfeit products were a copy of a registered brand which were brought into 
the country illegally. 

He then referred to the written representations of the Trading Standards Manager 
that highlighted various concerns regarding illegal tobacco being available to 
children more easily at ‘pocket money’ prices, although there was no evidence of 
children being supplied. He also referred to the adverse health effects, the knock-on 
effect of criminality in the area, the undermining of public health goals to reduce 
smoking and local businesses confirming that illegal tobacco causes them a serious 
nuisance and were losing out on significant revenue as a result of this activity taking 
place as it detracts people form purchasing genuine products.

The Team Leader (Special Investigations) continued that Mr Takhar had previously 
been involved with Trading Standards and prosecuted last year where they 
recovered counterfeit and illicit cigarettes and tobacco from Mr Takhar’s premises 
at Vine Stores. Mr Takhar had indicated that the 4000 cigarettes and tobacco were 
for his own personal use but he pleaded guilty to the offence at court and was fined.

Trading Standards submit that illegal tobacco causes problems to the community 
and Mr Takhar’s attempts to sell tobacco from his vehicle is an extra layer of 
concealment, to detract attention away from the premises. Trading Standards 
believe that there is an association with the premises and this is undermining the 
licensing objectives.

The Trading Standards Investigator then addressed the Sub-Committee and 
explained that this was an ongoing investigation but CCTV footage was available 
showing the sales from the vehicles outside the premises. He advised Members 
that if they wished to view the footage then it should be in private as the footage 
showed members of the public.

The Council’s Solicitor advised Members that the CCTV footage could be viewed 
under Regulation 14 and request to exclude the public in order to view the footage.

Members agreed to the Regulation 14 request and all parties other than Members, 
Trading Standards Officers and the Council’s Solicitor were invited to leave the 
meeting.

Prior to leaving the meeting the Licensing Team Leader asked Trading Standards if 
they had ever come across Mr Singh at the Premises.  Members were advised that 
they had never seen the Premises Licence Holder at the premises but had seen the 
DPS.

All parties left the meeting at 12.00 Noon to allow the CCTV footage to be viewed. 
All parties returned to the hearing at 12.10 pm.

Page 10



The Council’s Solicitor advised parties that Members had viewed the footage from 
the 3 August 2018 and 5 September 2018. They had been given the opportunity to 
view further footage but indicated that they were satisfied with what they had seen.

Councillor Kennedy sought clarification if the boxes recovered were similar to those 
that could be seen on the footage being taken from the vehicle. Members were 
advised that a box consistent with that seen on the footage was recovered.

The Chairman sought clarification if the container was located near the premises or 
his home address. The Trading Standards Investigator confirmed that the container 
was located 200 metres from the shop premises.

The Council’s Solicitor asked if the boxes were found at the home address. The 
Trading Standards Investigator confirmed that the boxes were found at Mr Takhar’s 
home address.

The Public Health Practitioner then addressed the Sub-Committee and referred to 
his letter of submission on behalf of Public Health.

He referred to all tobacco kills but illicit tobacco causes additional problems to 
communities on many levels. The contents of illicit tobacco is not known and illicit 
tobacco provides an opportunity for young people to gain access to tobacco. 

Illicit tobacco also causes crime to local communities and those people supplying 
illicit tobacco are frequently involved in other criminality such as illicit alcohol, illegal 
drugs and illegal money lending.

Illicit tobacco undermines the work of Public Health and cheap tobacco encourages 
smokers to keep smoking. Public Health believed the role of the premises licence 
holder and designated premises supervisor are positions of responsibility and they 
would support the application to review the premises licence.

There were no questions of the Public Health Practitioner.

At 12.20 pm the Sub-Committee Resolved to retire to deliberate the application in 
private. After re-convening at 12.45 pm the Chair delivered the Sub-Committees 
decision.

In reaching their decision the Sub-Committee had taken into account the report of 
the Senior Licensing Officer, the written and verbal representations of the Licensing 
Authority, Trading Standards and Public Health. Members had also taken into 
account the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and Section 182 Guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Resolved: That the premises licence be revoked.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee held in Committee Room 2 - 
County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 4 December 2018 at 10.00 am

Present:

Councillor L Marshall (Chair)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors D Bell, J Blakey, L Brown and D Hicks

Also Present:
H Johnson – Licensing Team Leader, DCC
K Coulson-Patel – Solicitor, DCC (present for Best Kebab One)
G Proud – Solicitor, DCC (present for Kelly’s Convenience Store)
Best Kebab One
Mr S Mooney – Force Solicitor - Durham Constabulary
Sgt C Dickenson - Durham Constabulary
PC C McNaney - Durham Constabulary
DC D Haythorntwaite - Durham Constabulary
Mr Z Hussain Ahmed – Licence Holder 
Kelly’s Convenience Store
Mr P Burke – Applicant’s Solicitor
Mrs C Heshanth (Applicant) and Mr Heshanth Theivenrarajah

1 Apology for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor M Wilson.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor Blakey substituted for Councillor Bell at the hearing in respect of Kelly’s 
Convenience Store.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Minutes of the Meetings held on 11, 15 and 25 October 2018 

The Minutes of the meetings held on 11, 15 and 25 October 2018 were agreed as a 
correct record and were signed by the Chairman.

Page 13



5 Application for the Review of a Premises - Best Kebab One, 1a Fore 
Bondgate, Bishop Auckland 

Members: Councillor L Marshall (Chair), Councillors L Brown and D Hicks.

Prior to the commencement of the hearing, the Sub-Committee was asked to 
consider a request from the Licence Holder Mr Ahmed for an adjournment to allow 
him to obtain independent legal advice. Mr Reed, Counsel explained that he had 
been instructed to represent Mr Sala, the previous Licence Holder as he had 
understood the purpose of the hearing to be the consideration of the ‘handover 
process’.  It would be inappropriate for him to represent Mr Ahmed who was without 
legal representation. 

The Chair asked when Mr Ahmed had been informed of the date of the meeting. 
Members were advised that all parties had been informed of the date at the Sub-
Committee hearing on 30 October 2018. This date was agreed with Mr Ahmed who 
was present on 30 October 2018.

The Applicant was asked for their views. Mr Mooney, Force Solicitor on behalf of 
the Applicant Durham Constabulary, opposed the request. The review application 
had first been listed on 15 October 2018 and was adjourned as Mr Sala’s Solicitor 
had not attended. The hearing was then re-convened on 30 October 2018 when the 
Sub-Committee was advised that on Friday 26 October 2018 the Premises Licence 
had been transferred from Mr Sala to Mr Ahmed. It was made clear at that time that 
the hearing would proceed on 4 December 2018.

Mr Ahmed, through his interpreter, advised that he had hoped to get better legal 
advice and this was why he had asked for an adjournment.

At 10.35am the Sub-Committee retired to consider the request. After re-convening 
at 10.40am the Chair advised that the request for an adjournment was refused. 
Members noted that Mr Ahmed had been informed of the date of the hearing on 30 
October 2018, and considered therefore that he had been given sufficient time to 
seek legal advice.

The Licensing Team Leader presented the report which included a copy of the 
application and supporting documentation. Additional information had been 
received from the Applicant which had been circulated to all parties in advance of 
the hearing.

Mr Mooney was invited to address the Sub-Committee and advised that on 
becoming aware that the Premises Licence had been transferred, the Police had 
met with Mr Ahmed. However the Police remained concerned about the 
management of the premises following that meeting and sought revocation of the 
Premises Licence. 

Durham Constabulary had made application to review the Premises Licence 
because of serious concerns regarding the management of the premises which 
undermined all 4 licensing objectives. The premises had changed hands a number 
of times in 12 months but the Police evidence focused on the period that Mr Sala 

Page 14



and Mr Raza were in control. Mr Raza was still managing the premises, and the 
Police believed that he and Mr Sala had both been involved with the running of the 
premises since 2011.  

Mr Mooney outlined the main concerns of the Police. As detailed in the additional 
information provided by the Applicant, Mr Raza and Mr Sala had both been 
convicted with the offence of Obstruct Police by means of giving false names during 
a multi-agency visit on 16 December 2017. During the visit Mr Sala had also 
produced a falsified residents permit for an illegal worker. The permit was in the 
name of a former Licence Holder who had left the country in 2011. Even if the 
permit had been produced by the illegal worker himself, Mr Sala should have 
checked the authenticity of the document. There were 4 separate occasions where 
individual males had been found working on the premises without documentation, 
as outlined in the Police Bundle of Evidence. 

Other matters of concern included the general poor management of the premises 
and the lack of training records. The Premises Licence was not on display, the fixed 
seating was not included on the layout plan and the CCTV was not working for long 
periods. The Licence Holder had been notified of these issues but had taken a 
number of months to address only some of the areas of concern. 

There was also anti-social behaviour connected with these premises. There had 
been a number of reports of anti-social behaviour between October 2017 and 
December 2017, including that the shop was treated more as a youth club than a 
takeaway. Although incidents had reduced at the end of last year, they were on the 
increase again. It may be that incidents had continued throughout the period but 
had not been reported. 

When the Police were informed that Mr Ahmed had taken over the premises a 
meeting was set up for 12 November 2018, and on 6 November Mr Ahmed was 
asked to provide information which included details of his purchase of the premises, 
and details of staff and their immigration status. Mr Ahmed was reminded again on 
19 November 2018.  Mr Ahmed had produced a lease dated 2016 but had not 
provided a lease in his own name or any other documentation. He had admitted 
knowing Mr Sala for 4 years, had paid a cash deposit for the premises and had 
appointed Mr Raza as Manager. Mr Raza paid a weekly amount to Mr Ahmed. Mr 
Ahmed appeared to know very little about the business or who worked there apart 
from one female employee.

Mr Mooney referred Members to paragraph 11.27 of Section 182 Guidance which 
listed activities which should be treated particularly seriously. The list included the 
employment of a person disqualified from work by reason of their immigration status 
in the UK. The Guidance expected that in these circumstances a revocation of the 
Premises Licence should be seriously considered.

At 11.50am in accordance with Regulation 14(2) of the Licensing Act 2003 
(Hearings) Regulations 2005 it was Resolved that everyone present should leave 
the hearing, with the exception of the Applicant, the Licence Holder and the 
Solicitor, to allow the Sub-Committee to view CCTV footage of incidents at the 
premises. 

Page 15



At 12.30pm the hearing resumed in public.

PC McNaney referred to her witness statement included in the additional 
information, and outlined to Members the incidents at the premises on 22 and 30 
September, and 11 and 12 November 2018.

In confirming what had been said by Mr Mooney, PC McNaney added that on 26 
November 2018 Mr Sala had declared that he was unemployed at court, but 
following his conviction had asked her to examine damage to a window at his shop, 
Best Kebab One. She was of the view that Mr Ahmed had nothing to do with the 
business which was being managed exactly as it had been for the last 20 months. 

Upon questioning by Councillor Brown, PC McNaney advised that the last reported 
incident was on 29 November 2018. On 26 November 2018 a report was received 
about a young female causing damage to the premises. 

Mr Quinn of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) was invited to make 
representation. He stated that the LSCB recognised that access to alcohol could 
make young people vulnerable and victims of crime, and that they could also 
become offenders themselves.

The evidence presented by the Police raised concerns for the LSCB, and in 
particular reports of young people drinking alcohol and engaging in anti-social 
behaviour, reports of dangerous health and safety conditions relating to the supply 
of gas to the premises where young peopled congregated, and reports that 
predominantly female young people were drawn to the premises that was also 
being investigated in relation to employees using false identities and having no right 
to work in the UK.

The LSCB supported the application by the Police for revocation of the Premises 
Licence.

Mr Ahmed, through his interpreter, stated that the incidents were related to 
individuals rather than the business itself. He apologised to PC McNaney that he 
had not replied to the request for information but he had 2 other businesses to run 
and a young family, and was ‘snowed under’. He was a businessman and this was 
what he did; he had taken over similar premises in New Brancepeth and Gateshead 
and had turned them around.

He noted the lies and deception of Mr Sala and Mr Raza but this had nothing to do 
with him and stated that he would not lie. He had recruited new employees and 
could provide their details.

With regard to the congregation of young persons outside, he advised that when 
customers ordered food they were given 15 minutes waiting time. Best Kebab One 
was not the only premises in the location, there were 3 other shops in close 
proximity; if anti-social behaviour was a problem for one shop it affected them all. 
Because of his involvement with his other businesses and factory he could not ask 
Mr Raza to leave until January 2019 after the busy Christmas period. Mr Ahmed 

Page 16



informed the Sub-Committee that he wished to submit documents regarding the 
new lease but was informed that these should have been disclosed in advance of 
the hearing, and with the consent of all parties.  

Mr Ahmed continued that he should not have confirmed the date of the hearing as 
this was his busiest time. He had not appreciated the purpose of the hearing today.

Councillor Brown asked why Mr Ahmed had decided to take over the premises. Mr 
Ahmed advised that he looked for shops that were not well-managed, built them up 
and then sold them on for a profit.

Following a further question from Councillor Brown, Sgt Dickenson advised of 
incidents reported in respect of other premises in the location, none of which related 
to anti-social behaviour. PC McNaney added that concerns had been raised about 
Best Kebab One at PACT meetings.

Upon questioning by Sgt Dickenson, Mr Ahmed advised that he had been given 2 
opportunities to provide documentation. Sgt Dickenson clarified that Mr Ahmed had 
been notified by e-mail on 2 and 6 November 2018, at the meeting on 12 November 
2018 and by a further follow-up e-mail on 19 November 2018. Mr Ahmed advised 
that he had not said to PC McNaney that the Lease he had provided was a copy of 
his own Lease.

Mr Mooney stated that Mr Ahmed had said that Mr Sala and Mr Raza had been 
causing problems and asked him to confirm that these individuals had been running 
the premises. Mr Ahmed confirmed that they had.

Following a further question about the businesses of Mr Ahmed and his hours of 
work, Mr Ahmed reiterated that November and December were his busiest months 
and he worked from 5 or 6am until 2pm, but sometimes made deliveries out of 
hours and at other times when he made financial collections.

He had visited Best Kebab One on Tuesday and Saturday of the previous week and 
had employed new staff, including a female employee who he hoped to appoint as 
Manager. She had been working at the premises for 2 years and clarified that she 
had contacted the Police during the incident on 26 November 2018, not a member 
of the public. He had told the staff that they must contact the Police if there were 
any incidents. He planned to close the shop in January 2019 to refurbish the 
premises and put the business in order.

Mr Mooney asked why Mr Raza could not be asked to leave the premises now, and 
was advised that this was because of his knowledge of the business. However he 
would ask him to leave immediately if this was requested of him. 

All parties were invited to make closing submissions.

Mr Ahmed advised that he had nothing further to add.

Mr Mooney concluded that there had been numerous licensing failures associated 
with the premises. Youths treated the shop as a youth centre and consumed 

Page 17



alcohol which resulted in anti-social behaviour and disturbance. These problems 
had either recently re-emerged or had been continuous but had gone un-reported.

Standout issues for the Police were the deception and lies from people in control of 
the premises, and the employment of illegal workers. Mr Sala was still involved with 
the premises and Mr Raza was still the Manager, at the choice of Mr Ahmed. Mr 
Ahmed was ’snowed under’ with his other businesses and Mr Raza would continue 
to run the premises as long as he paid rent. Durham Constabulary considered that 
revocation of the Premises Licence was the only option.

Mr Quinn of the LSCB had nothing further to add.

At 12.30pm the Sub-Committee retired to deliberate the application in private. After 
re-convening at 12.45pm the Chair delivered the Sub-Committee’s decision. In 
reaching their decision the Sub-Committee had taken into account the report of the 
Licensing Team Leader, verbal representations of the Licence Holder and the 
verbal and written representations of the Applicant and LSCB. Members had also 
taken into account the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and Section 182 
Guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

Resolved:

That the Premises Licence be revoked.  

The meeting adjourned until 2.30pm.

6 Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence - Kelly's Convenience Store - 
2 Osborne Terrace, Ferryhill 

Members: Councillor L Marshall (Chair), Councillors J Blakey and D Hicks.

The Committee considered a report of the Licensing Team Leader regarding an 
application for the grant of a Premises Licence in respect of Kelly’s Convenience 
Store, 2 Osborne Terrace, Ferryhill (for copy see file of Minutes).  

A copy of the application and supporting documentation had been circulated. 
Members were informed that the ‘other persons’ who had made representation had 
confirmed that they would not be in attendance.

Mr Burke, the Applicant’s Solicitor addressed the Sub-Committee and stated that 
Mr and Mrs Heshanth owned other businesses in the area, including a store at 
Ferryhill and a petrol station, both of which were licensed and operated without 
issue. They had owned the petrol station for 5 years. The couple planned to move 
into Kelly’s Convenience Store with their children.  

Mr Burke addressed the objections that had been raised. The reference to other 
licensed premises in the area nearby was not relevant, and Kelly’s Convenience 
Store could not be blamed for problems being experienced as a result of the 
purchase and consumption of alcohol by young people.  The shutters had been 
removed in the last couple of years so could not be a cause of disturbance. One 

Page 18



‘other person’  who had made representation lived 2 doors away from the premises 
and had young children; the residents living next door  also had young children and 
had not expressed concern. 

One of the objectors to the application was the owner of a licensed premises 
nearby.

There were no representations from Responsible Authorities.  

With regard to representations made regarding the hours for the sale of alcohol, Mr 
Burke advised that many people worked shifts, finishing work at 6am and may for 
example want to purchase a bottle of wine to have with a meal after work. 

Concerns had also been expressed with regard to an increase in vehicles, including 
delivery vehicles. The works to the shop had now been completed and the number 
of vans should reduce in volume.

There were no plans for major external lighting, which in any event would need 
planning permission.

The hours requested for the supply of alcohol and opening times had both been 
amended to 22:00 hours.

Mr Burke then referred to the case of Thwaites PLC v Wirral Borough Magistrates 
Court which established that conditions should only be attached which were 
necessary to promote the licensing objectives, and must be based on real 
evidence. The letters of representation were speculative in content and if the Sub-
Committee gave weight to these, would fail to follow the provisions of Section 182 
Guidance and the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.

There was no evidence to show that the licensing objectives would not be 
promoted, and of 2000 residents living within the immediate vicinity, only 3 had 
made representation.      

Following a question from Solicitor Gill Proud, Mr Burke confirmed that there were 
no plans to install external lighting. Councillor Blakey sought an assurance that 
images from the CCTV camera to the front of the premises would be clear without 
external lighting, and was advised by Mr Heshanth that the CCTV system was of 
good quality.

In his closing statement Mr Burke emphasised that the Applicants were 
experienced, had a number of businesses, one of which was a petrol station that 
was open 24 hours and which they had owned for 5 years. The staff in the store 
were experienced, 1 having worked there for 10 years and another for 13. Both 
employees knew the customers, and the store already handled other age-restricted 
products.  Mr and Mrs Heshanth had simply improved an existing business.

At 2.20pm the Sub-Committee Resolved to retire to deliberate the application in 
private. After re-convening at 2.25pm the Chair delivered the Sub-Committee’s 
decision. In reaching their decision the Sub-Committee had considered the report of 

Page 19



the Licensing Team Leader, the written representations of ‘other persons’ and the 
verbal representations of the Applicant’s Solicitor. Members had also taken into 
account the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and Section 182 Guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Resolved:

That the Premises Licence be granted as follows:

 
Licensable Activities Days & Hours Requested

Supply of alcohol 
(consumption off the premises)

Monday – Sunday 07:00 – 
22:00 hrs

Opening Hours Monday – Sunday 05:00 – 
22:00 hrs

The Sub-Committee determined that the following mediated conditions agreed by 
the Applicant and Durham Constabulary and Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
From Harm Board would be added to the premises licence:

A. General

We will hold the 4 objectives in high regard and will strive to keep staff fully 
trained on all of our policies and procedures.  All training records will be 
made available to officers when requested.  

B. The prevention of crime and disorder

 No serving of alcohol to any person who appears to be drunk.

 Full initial staff training to be carried out by the DPS to ensure no 
alcohol is sold to anyone underage and refresher training to be carried 
out every 6 months.  

 Training records to be kept for every member of staff and endorsed 
after every training session.  The records will be made available to 
officers and responsible authorities when requested to do so.  

 CCTV will be provided in the form of a recordable system, capable of 
providing pictures particularly facial recognition.  Cameras shall 
encompass all entrances and exists to the premise, where the 
sale/supply of alcohol occurs.  

 The majority of staff will be trained to operate the CCTV system; this 
is to include viewing and downloading of the system.  Regular 
refresher training will also be undertaken.  Training records can be 

Page 20



made available for inspection upon reasonable request by police or 
other relevant officers of a responsible authority.  

 All footage will be kept on the system for at least 28 days and will be 
made available to officers and responsible authorities when requested 
to do so.  

C. Public Safety

 An incident log will be kept at all times.  

D. The prevention of public nuisance 

 Groups of people will be discouraged from congregating outside the 
premises.  

 Signage will be displayed encouraging customers to leave quietly.  

 At the end of business, staff will ensure that litter is collected from the 
front of the premises and the immediate vicinity.  

E. The protection of children from harm

 A challenge 25 policy will be operated at the premise, acceptable 
forms of identification are a passport, photocard driving licence and 
PASS accredited identification card i.e. ID4U.

 A refusal register will be kept and endorsed after every sale refused.  
This should be maintained and will be produced to a relevant officer of 
the police or other relevant officer of a responsible authority upon 
request.  This is also to include over 18s purchasing alcohol and 
passing it on to under 18s (proxy sale). 

 .
The Sub-Committee considered the mediated conditions and believed it was 
necessary and proportionate to impose those conditions upon the licence, together 
with the standard licensing conditions.

  

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73

Agenda Item 6



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meetings held on 20 and 27 November 2018, and 4 December 2018
	Minutes , 27/11/2018 Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee
	Minutes , 04/12/2018 Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee

	5 Application for the Grant of a Premises Licence - Bells Fish and Chips, Finchale Road, Durham
	6 Application for the Variaton of a Premises Licence - Bar 33, First Floor, 29-33 Neville Street, Durham

